
CITY OF CARMEL.BY.THE.SEA
HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

AGENDA

Regular Meeting
City Hall
East Side of Monte Verde
between Ocean & Seventh

l. Roll Call

ll. Announcements from Board Members and Director

lll. Appearances
A.yone ,rishr.,g to address the Library Board on items within its jurisdiction may do so

now. please riie, state your name and the matter on which you wish to speak. Matters

not appearing on tf," linirry Board agenda will not receive action at this meeting.
presentationi will be limited to three minutes, or as established by the Library Board of

Trustees.

lV. Approval of Minutes of the October 28,2015 Regular Meeting (pp 1 - 3)

V- Orders of Business
1. Receive rEii-., the Carmel Public Library Foundation regarding CPLF

activities
2. Receive and discuss report from Library Consultant Susan Kent, and provide

direction regarding next steps (pp 4 - 8)

3. Accept annial prjceeds of itre'friends of the Library book sale in the amount of

$22,500 (P. 9)
4. ConsideiliOory Board of Trustees partlcipation in the 2016 City Centennial

celebrations and 1. fonruard a budget request to the City Council for funding, if

applicable and 2. provide direction to staff regarding said participation

(pp 10 - 13)
5. Discuss whether to hold a December Library Board of Trustees meeting and provide

direction (P 14)
6. Annual election of officers for 2016 (p. 15)

7. provide staff with direction as to whJt meeting date the Board would like to agendize

a discussion of library open hours, including Sundays (p' 16)

Vl. Librarian's RePort
8. Review of MonthlY Statistics
9. Library Journal lndex award (pp 17 - 20)
10. Local History Librarian recruitment

Vll. Treasurer's RePort:
11. Receive Treasurer's RePort
12. Accept October 31, 2015 Check Register. Note. due to the early November

meeting date, the Financial Statements are not ready'

Vlll. Adjournment

The next regularly scheduled Library Board of Trustees meeting is scheduled for
December 23,2015

WednesdaY NancY Collins
November 18,2015 Richard Flower, President

9:00 AM Martha Mosher, Vice President
Niels Reimers
Tara TwomeY, Treasurer



CITY OF CARMEL.BY.TH E.SEA

HARRISoNMEMoRIALLIBRARYBoARDoFTRUSTEES
AGENDA

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Harrlsol M9m91al Library Board of Trustees regarding an

item on this agenda wirr oe ilraoe available fi,r p'ro]i. inlp""tion i1 the Library Directo/s office at the Park Branch

iioirrv 
"iin" "trn"|. 

of Mission & sixth streets during normal business hours.

The city of carmel-by-the-sea does not discriminate against persons with disabilities. carmel-by-the-sea city Hall is

an accessible facility. The City of Carmel-by+he-Sea te'lecommunications device for the Deaf/Speech lmpaired

(T.D.D.) number is 1 -800-735-2929'

AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING

l, Janet Bombord, Library and community Activities Director for the city of carmel-by-the-sea'

DO HEREBY CERTIFY, under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of california' that the

foregoing notice was posted at the Carmel-by-the-Sea City Hall bulletin board' posted at the

Harrison Memorial Library on ocean and Lincoln Avenues and the carmel Post office and

distributed to members of the media on November 1-L,20L5.

Dated this 11th day of November 2015 at the hour of 6:00 p.m.

Jangt Bombard

Library and Community Activities Director



MINUTES
HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

CITY OF CARMEL.BY-THE.SEA

October 28,2015

L CALL TO ORDER

The regular meeting of the Harrison Memorial Library Board of Trustees was held on the above

date at 9:00 a.m. President FLowER calied the meeting to order.

II. ROLL CALL:
PRESENT' COLLINS, FLOWERS, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY

ABSENT: NONE
STAFF PRESENT: Janet Bombard, Library Director

Carolina Lopez, Library Office Assistant

IIL ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM LIBRARY BOARI} & SIRECTOR:

Library Director Janet Bombard informed the Board that the Board and Commission training that

was scheduled November 2"d was cancelled and will be rescheduled at a later date.

IV. APPEARANCES:

No appearances.

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

Board Member COLLINS moved to, Approve the Minutes of the September 23. 2015 Resular
Meeting. seconded by Board Member MOSHER and carried by the following roll call vote:

AYES: COLLINS, FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY
NOES: NONE
ABSENT: NONE
ABSTAIN: NONE

VI. ORDERS OF BUSINESS:

A. Receive report from the Carmel Public Library Foundation regarding CPLF
activities

CPLF Executive Director Amy Donohue announced that CPLF has launched the Annual
Campaign. Popular Science writer Mary Roach will be the speaker for the annual fundraiser in
April,2016.

B. Receive report from Ad Hoc Committee members Flower and Twomey on facilities
planning meetings and community workshops

Board member Twomey reviewed the key points of the community workshop, which was well
attended.



C. Discuss November 2015 and December 2015 Library Board of Trustees meeting date and

provide direction

The Board discussed the two meeting dates. Based on possible lack of a quorum and matters

that will need attention from the Board, Board Member COLLINS moved to, ADlrrove

ulins t ber Boa 9a

and continue the discussion regarding the Dece at the

@r FLOWER and carried by the following roll call

D. Accept reimbursement from the Cify of Carmel-by-the-sea in the amount of $1'852.84 and

consider Fiscal year 2015116 budget amendment allocating the finds to the Information

Systems Equipment Budget

Library Director Bombard informed the Board that the library had inadvertently paid an invoice

for Ciiy computers in Fiscal Year 2014115, for which the City reimbursed the library. Bombard

recommended allocating the funds to the Information Systems Equipment due to increased costs

for computers this fiscal year.

Board Member TWOMEY moved to, Approve reimbursement from the Citv of Carmel-bY-tember I wuMrjY moved to, ApDrove r€ImDursemenl lrotrr rflc r-rtv ur r-ar.rtor-rv-
in rhe qrnnunr nf Sl -852-84 and consider Fiscal Year 2015/16 budeet alqendlqgn!15/16 buof S1.852.8

ation Systems Equipment Budeet, seconded by Board

Member COLLINS and carried by the following roll call vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

COLLINS, FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY
NONE
NONE
NONE

COLLINS, FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY
NONE,
NONE
NONE

VU. LIBRARIAN'SREPORT:

Library Director Bombard reviewed the monthly statistics with the Board. Bombard updated the

Board on the CalRen Broadband network project and the recruitment for the Local History
Librarian position. Bombard also informed the Board of two new part-time staff vacancies. The

library audit is under way.

VIII. TREASURERS REPORT:

Board Treasurer Twomey reviewed the September financial statements and check register with the

Board and answered questions about the financial statements. There were no extraordinary expenses

that needed special attention from the Board.

Board Member MOSHER moved to, Accept the September 30. 2015 Financial Statements and
Check Resister. seconded by Board Member REIMERS and carried by the following roll call vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

COLLINS, FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY
NONE
NONE
NONE

r-



X. ADJOURNMENT:

There being no further business to come before the Board, President Flower declared the meeting

adjourned it tO,Zg am. The next regular meeting is scheduled for November I 8, 201 5 .

Respectfully submitted,
Carolina Lopez, Administrative Assistant

Approved by:

Richard Flower, President, Library Board of Trustees



HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Staff RePort
November 18,2015

Harnso-n Memor'lal Library Board of Trustees
To:

From:

Subject:

Janet Bombard, Library Director

Receive and discuss report from Library consultant susan Kent, and provide

direction regarding next stePs

suMMARY: ln Augus t of 2015, the carmel Public Library Foundation engaged the services of Library

consurtant susan Kent to assist with the Libra;t's strategic pranning, the primary focus of which is

integrating the library's buildings and spaces into its public services'

Ms. Kent's engagement included the following:
. MeetingJwith the Library Diregtor and CPLF Executive Director

o Touring both library buildings
. Conducting a workshop for library staff

o Planning for and conducting a Community Workshop

Ms. Kent's report follows on the next page'

At the october 2g,2015 meeting, Trustees directed staff to agendize a discussion of next steps based

on the report, including (but not limited to):

. providing direction with respect to what the Board will report to the City Council, and when

. continued Board outreach to the community, and input from the community

o Potentialfuture partnerships, with board members attending public meetings

4



ANASSESSMENToFTHEHARRISoNMEMoRIALTIBRARY
AREP0RTToTHELIBRARYANDLIBRARYF0UNDATI0N

The Carmel Public Library Foundation [Foundation) engaged the services of Susan

Kent of S. R. Kent LLC [Consultant) to do a study for the Harrison Memorial Library

[Library) that would:

o Provide expertise and information re the future of public library buildings,

technology and services to be incorporated in planning for future of the

Library.

oReviewalldocumentsanddataregardingtheLibrary.

o Engage with key stakeholders, library staff and the community to discuss

new ideas, trends in public library services and community needs and

present workshops to these groups'

This report to the Board of the Carmel Public Library Foundation and the Harrison

Memorial Library will summarize the consultant's findings to date'

SEPTEMBER SITE VISIT

The Consultant reviewed planning documents and related materials prior to her

first site visit to carmel inseptember 2015. During that visit, the consultant:

o Toured the Harrison Memorial Library
. Toured the Park Branch
o Conducted a workshop for Library staff on "The Public Library of Today and

Tomorrow: Planning Assumptions and Design Trends"' This workshop

included leading theitaff through exercises "One Day at the Library" and

"Customer ExPerience"'
o Meet with thosteering Committee [Foundation, Library Board members) to

present an overview of issues and trends related to public libraries.

o Had an in-depth discussion with the Library Director and Foundation

Executive Diiector on library and community current issues and concerns.

. Toured the Sunset Center
o Planned for the community Meeting to be held on Oct. 2L't.

OBSERVATIONS FROM SEPTEMBER SITE VISIT

After touring both libraries, the Consultant observed the following:

Harrison Memorial LibrarY:



. The exterior of the building is beautiful and enhanced by the

landscaPing.
o The building is not accessible to persons with disabilities or mobility

issues, except on the entrance level'

o The building has multiple levels with no elevators or lifts'

o The librarY is:
o overcrowded
o shelving is too high
o the collection is crammed in
o there is limited seating [both table/chair seating and leisure

seating)
otherearenomeetingSpacesforeitherlargeorsmallgroups
othereisinsufficienttechnologyforthepublic
o there are no small, quiet study rooms

o there is no digital technology learning center

o The Main Library contains the adult and teen collections (the Teen

Lounge is at the Main Library). The Park Branch contains materials

forages0-14.

Park Branch LibrarY:
o There is an environmental issue that needs to be addressed

immediatelY'

o The library is:
o crowded and collections for children and teens are unable to

be displayed attractivelY
o the laYout is Poor
o there are no "learning spaces" for young people

othereisverylimitedaccesstotechnologyforusers.

o The local historY collection is:

o too large for its current space allocation with part of the

collection currently stored off-site.

o is cramPed, not well lit
o has limited exhibition spaces'

o The park Branch is intended, with the exception of the local history

collection, to be used by young people so it is not truly a family space.

As a result of the assessment of the two buildings, (and please note that this is not

an architectural study of what might be changed structurallyJ, the Consultant

observed that there is inefficiency of having two libraries split by age-level in terms

t-\u



of access to collections, serviceS, hours of opening, staff utilization and technology'

In addition, both buildings do not meet the needs of the community because of

access issues, cramped ,[r.", for people and collections, lack of meeting spaces and

lack of sufficient seating and technology'

OCTOBER SITE VISIT

After the September site visit, the Consultant, in discussion with Library Director

and Foundation Executive Director, recommended that an architectural firm with

extensive experience in public library design and remodeling be engaged to do a

general assessment of the two libraries looking at what structural changes might be

iraae to address the environmental, access and service issues. In addition, an

assessment of the costs of remodeling and building a new library would be critical

as the institution moves forward to address community needs and facility

shortcomings.

During the October site visit, the Consultant, together with Library and Foundation

representatives, met with Board and Staff representatives from the Sunset Center to

discuss potential co-location and collaboration. This opportunity needs further

study and fuller discussion by both parties'

The Library and Foundation conducted a community meeting on "Reimagining your

Carmel puUtic Library on the evening of October 22"a. The Consultant gave a

presentation "publiiLibraries - Today and Tomorrow" that discussed the library as

i place where one can explore, create, experience and connect' The presentation

featured images of contemporary libraries from around the world. She then led a

discuss that focuses on three questions:

o Imagine an improved library. What are people doing inside? Describe what

you see.
o What did you see in the presentation that you liked?

o How would an improved library transform our community?

The thirty plus participants in the meeting had a lively and engaging discussion and

talked about the needlor a library with space for people of all ages to use and enjoy

together, the need for flexible, multi-use meeting spaces, a space that is homey and

comfortable, has more computers and other technology, lots of light, comfortable

seating, more open concept spaces and the integration of outdoor/indoor space' A

community survey is available to Carmel residents at the library and online on the

library website.

PRELIMINARY RECOMMENDATIONS

The Consultant recommends that:

t1
(



An architectural firm with an extensive background in building/renovating

public libraries be engaged to:

o do a high level ficility assessment of the two library buildings to see

whatcanbedonetoimprovetheinteriorlayoutofeach
o do an assessment of potential renovation opportunities

o develop a preliminaiy development strategy for a new library on a

hyPothetical site
o dlvelop a high level cost model for each of the above.

The Consultant works with the Library and Foundation and selected

architectural firm to assess the alternatives and the potential to accomplish

them.

The consultant, with Library and Foundation, continue in discussions with

Sunset Center.

Susan Kent
71./1.0/ts

t



FRIENDS OF THE HARRISON MEMORIAL

oarc // 3-/{
GO$ 4 2r5oo* .

Iil E:',tii:l'.

a
I



HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Staff RePort
November 18,2015

ffiraryBoardof TrusteesTo:

From:

Subject:

Janet Bombard, Library Director

Consider Library Board of Trustees participation in the 2016 City Centennial

celebrations and 1. foruvard a budget request to the city council for funding, if

appricaore and 2. provide direction to staff regarding said participation

SUMMARY:

Item 1 : At the May and June 2015 meetings, at the request of Mayor Burnett,lhe Board of rrustees

discussed participation in the 2016 centen-nial celebrations. At that time, the Board developed a

possiole list of ideas for participation (see attachment 1, item B.).

The city is requesting that Boards and Commissions submit their ideas, along with a proposed budget'

to the city Councit. 
-None 

of the ideas originally proposed by the Board would require City funding;

however, other ideas might arise during tn-e prelent discussion which could require a budget from the

City.

Item 2: When the city originally asked for centennial participation from the boards and commissions it

was not anticipating ttrat iity staff would be directed to do the work; rather, that the board and

commission members would undertake the tasks necessary to facilitate their proposals'

The list of ideas for participation that were developed by the Library Board at the May and June

meetings must be facilitated exclusively by library staff. There are currently four staff vacancies, three

of which include the Local History Libririah and iwo reference librarians. These are the members of

the staff that would be responsibie for items 1 ,2,3,6, and 7. A local history lecture on Charles

Sumner Greene has already been scheduled during the centennial year. Staff, therefore, is requesting

that the Board narrow its participation to the following additional items:

. Develop a series of bookmarks containing lists of books about Carmel, and by Carmel authors

. Base the annual teen photo contest theme on the history of Carmel

ATTACHMENTS:
Attachment 1: June 24,2015 minutes
Attachment 2: Emailfrom city Executive Assistant Leslie Fenton

l0



ft"r;n{du-r'^-J7 I

MIIYUTES
HA.RRISONMEMoRIALLIBRARYB0ARDOFTRUSTEES

CITY OF CARMEL.BY-THE.SEA

June 2412015

I. CALL TO ORDER

The regular meeting of the Harrison Memorial Library Board of Trustees was held on the above

date at 9:00 a.m. President FLOWER called the meeting to order'

IL ROLL CALL:
PRESENT:
ABSENT:
STAFF PR.ESENT:

FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY

COLLINS
Janet Bombard, LibrarY Director
Carotina Lopez, Library Offi ce Assistant

V.

vI.

Meeting. seconded by Board Member TWOMEY and carried by the foliowing roil
ve the

FLOWER, MOSHER, REIMERS, TWOMEY
NONE
COLLINS
NONE

1i

Library Director Janet Bombard announced that the audit has been completed and she hopes to

bring it to the Board for review by the next board meeting. Bombard will speak with the City

Administrator about having the auditor talk to the Board. Board member Reimers requested that

amendments to Board minutes be spelled out in the minutes.

APPEARANCES:

No appearances.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

Board Member MOSHER moved to,

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

VII. ORDERS OF BUSINESS:

A. Receive report from the Carmel Public Library Foundation regarding CPLF
activities

No one from CPLF was present.

B. Discuss Library Board of Trustees participation in the 2016 Centennial and develop ideas

for projects to be presented at the City Council workshop on Monday, July 6,2015

After discussion, the Board developed the following list to be presented at the workshop:

lar
call vote:



1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Deveiop a series of bookmarks containing lists of books about carmel' and by carmel

authors. Put Centennial logo on bookmarks'

Create monthly displays in the Main Lil.ary of authors with Carmel connections and their

books, beginning with the Bohemians'

create displays in ti,. rurui, Library and Park Branch which feature the history of the first

library in carmel and the subsequent creation of the Harrison Memorial Library' Display

shouid include books that were wri6en - and people were reading - during those time

periods.
The Library Board will present a lecture on either the history of the library or some other

subject thai pertains to the history of Carmel'

Develop a series of age-appropriate, ,.co*menoed classic Literature booklists for children

which include Carmel authors such as Jack London'

Complete, publish, and publici ze oneor more History Pin historical walking touls'

The ar1nual teen photo ctntest theme will be based in some way on the history of Carmel6.
7.

c. consideration of a request to change the current materials checkout and renewal periods

from two weeks to three weeks each

Library Director Janet Bombard outlined the reasons for the requested change to the materials

checkout period and answered Board questions'

Board Member REIMERS moved to the

and renewal peri fro seconded

Vt.rnU.t }tAOSHER and canied by the following roll call

the

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

FLOWER, MOSHER, TWOMEY, REIMERS
NONE
COLLINS
NONE

V[I. LIBRARIAN'SREPORT:

No librarian's report.

IX. TREASURERS REPORT:

Board Treasurer Twomey reviewed the April Financial statement and May financial statement anc

check register with the Board. There were no extraordinary expenses that needed special

attention from the Board.

Board Member MOSHER moved
seconded by Board Member REIMERS and carried by the following roll call vote:

AYES: FLOWER, MOSHER, TWOMEY, REIMERS
NOES: NONE
ABSENT: COLLINS
ABSTAIN: NONE

Board Member REIEMRS moved to, Accept the May Financial Statements and Check Resister

seconded by Board Member MOSHER and carried by the following roll call vote:

FLOWER, MOSHER, TWOMEY, REIMERS
tz

teri

the following roll call vote:

AYES:



ATTAC!1Wrrr L

Janet Bombard

From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:

Subject:

Leslie Fenton

Tuesday, October 27,201510:48 AM

Mike Branson; Rob Mullane;Janet Bombard; Marc Wiener; Margi Perotti

Doug Schmitz; Ashlee Wright

Centennial Event

Hello -

The Mayor and city Administrator are inquiring what our Boards/commissions are planning to help celebrate the city's

Centennial next Year.

please have your Board or commission submit their event/program/idea with a proposed budget for consideration by

theCityCouncil nolaterthanDecemberll,2015,sothatitcanbeplacedontheJanuary2016Agenda' 
lfyoucanget

the information to me prior to November lgth we can try for the December 20L5 Agenda. The city council will decide

what will be budgeted for the event.

Thank you for Your assistance'

Leslie Fenton

Executive Assistont
City of Carmel-bY-the- Seo

831-620-2007

.41*



HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Staff RePort
November 18,2015

Harrison MemoriA Library Board of Trustees
To:

From: Janet Bombard, Library Director

subject: consider whether to hord a December Library Board of rrustees meeting and

provide direction

SUMMARY: At the october 28,2015 meeting the Trustees discussed November and December

2015 meeting dates.

The Board voted to move the November meeting date up one week to wednesday' November 18' in

order to have all members present at the meeting'

consideration of the December meeting date was continued to the November meeting in case there

were important points of discussion thai would need to be continued, or any new business came up in

the meantime.

l4



HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Staff RePort
November 18,2015

To:

From:
,.

Subiect:

Flarr'rson Memorial Library Board of Trustees

Janet Bombard, Library Director

Annual election of officers for 2016

suMMARy: Officers of the Board of rrustees consist of a President, Vice President, and rreasurer'

Elections occur rnnr"tty at the December Board meeting; elected officers begin their terms in

January.

The Harrison Memorial Library Board of Trustees By-Laws, Article lV - Officers of the Board of

Trustees - states the following:
A. Officers of the Board of Trustees shall consist of a President, a Vice President and a

Treasurer, who shall perform their appropriate duties'

B. Officers shall be elecied at the annual meeting, or at such other meeting as may be-.

n"."rrrry to serve for a period of one year oruntil a successor has been seated' Election

of officers shall occur in December, or in November if a meeting is cancelled or no meeting

is held, with prior notification to the City Clerk'
C. No member of the Board shall be elecied President for more than two consecutive full

terms; however other than that there are no other official regulations governing Board

. elections

Because the method of appointing new Board officers was established by practice only, and was not

stipulated in tibrary gor*i by-tavis or City regulations, the Board of Trustees at its April 25,2012

meeting, adoptedihe following guidelines regarding election of officers:

PROCEDURE REGARDING THE ANNUAL ELECTION OF OFflCERS
HARRISoNMEM)RIALLIBRARYB2ARDoFIRUSTEES

per the City of Carmel-by-fhe-Sea, in an effort to maintain consistency all etections of Boards,

Committees and commissions should occur in December. lf a December electionis nol possible due

to a meeting cancellation, a November election may be held upon prior notice to the City Clerk'

Etected positions of the Library Board of Trustees consr'sf of a President, Vice President, and

Treasurer. Officers' terms Oegin in January;posffions are held for one year or until a successor has

been appointed. per Libraryboard by-lais,'no member of the Board shatt be elected President for

more than two consecutive fullterms.

The etection of officers is an agendized Order of Business. Due to Brown Act restrictions, nominations

are made, discussed and voted on at the December meeting'

It has been customary for the Vice President to succeed the President and for the Treasurer position

to be held by a new Board member. The rationale for choosing a new Board member as Treasurer is

that it provides a good introduction to Board finances and operations.

This method of appointing new Board officers has been estabtished by practice only; it is not stipulated

in Library Board By-Laws or City regulations.

15

Il-



HARRISON MEMORIAL LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Staff RePort
November 18,2015

ffiraryBoardof Trustees
To:

From: Janet Bombard, Library Director

Subiect: provide staff with direction as to what meeting date the Board would like to

agendizeadiscussionoflibraryopenhours,includingSundays

san Kent' several members of

the community expressed interest in the library being open on sundays' lt was agreed that the Board

^' 'hlia maafinn
H#';;#l;"=fr[ matter so that ribrary ,r"o coutl weigh in on the topic at a public meeting'

Staff is requesting direction as to what meeting date the Board would like to schedule the discussion

/o



a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

LJ Index 2015: The Star Libraries

By Keith curry Lance & Rav Lvons on November2,2015 Leave a comment

The Star Libraries

Allthe Stars, State bY State

Do-lt-Yourself Proiects withLJ lndex Data

E-Circ Not Readv for Prime Time

Understandinq Star Status Shifts

Find Your Library

Everv Star Librarv Ever Named

LJ lndex FAQ

View Tables by
Expenditure Range:

$30,000,000 +

$1 0,000, 000 - $29,999,999

$5,000,000 - $9,999,999

$1,000,000 - $4,999,999

$400,000 - $999,999

$200,000 - $399.999

$100,000 - $199,999

$50,000 - $99,999

$10,000 - $49.999

NEW STARS
This year, 207 of 2014's Star Libraries retain their Star status, though their numbers of Stars may have

changed. There are also 54 new or returning Star Libraries-ones that were not Stars in last year's

ratings.

Among libraries spending $30 million or more, there are two new three-Star winners: Toledo-Lucas

County Public Library and lndianapolis-Marion County Public Library.

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

t1



Among libraries spending $10 million-$29.9 million, there are three new three-Starwinners: Birmingham

Public Library, AL; Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh; and Stark County District Library' Canton' OH'

Among libraries spending $5 million-$g.g million, there are six new star winners' including the five-star

westport Public Library, cT, and two new four-star winners: Huntington Public Library, NY' and La

Crosse Public Library, Wl.

Among libraries spending $1 million-$4'9 million, there are four

Homewood Public LibrarY, AL.

Among libraries spending $400,000-$999,999, there are five new star Libraries, led by two new four-Star

winners: Garden City Public Library, lD, and Foley Public Library' AL'

Among libraries spending $200,000-$399,999, there are eight new star Libraries, led by four-star

winners Dorcas Carey Public Library, carey, oH, and three Massachusetts winners: Truro Public Library

(North Truro), Meekins Public Library (Williamsburg), and Cotuit Library'

Among libraries spending $10o,ooo-$199,999, there are five new three-star Libraries, including

carrollton Public Library, MO;Walton and Tipton Township Public Library, walton, lN; Dennis Memorial

Library Association, MA; Cornwall Library Association, cT; and Kinsley Public Library' KS'

Among libraries spending $5o,oo0-$99,999, there are a dozen new Star Libraries, led by two new five-

Star winners: Estancia Public Library, NM, and Sand Point Community/School Library' AK'

Among libraries spending $10,000-$49,999, there are eight new Star Libraries, led by five-star winner

Velva Public and School Library, ND.

while the 54 new Star Libraries in 2015 represent the lowest number of additions since the lndex first

appeared in 2009, there was still plenty of movement among the three-, four-, and five-star categories in

2015.

new Star Libraries, led by new four-Star

t9



So u rce. http : //lj. I i b ra ryjou rn al. com/stars-faq/

1. What is the LJ lndex of Public Library Service?
The LJ lndex is a national rating system designed to recognize and promote America's public libraries, to
help improve the pool of nationally collected library statistics, and to encourage library self-evaluation.
2. How was the LJ Index designed?
Simplicity, transparency, and comprehensibility were the main objectives in designing the rating system.
We used stattstical correlation analysis to identify a concise and straight-foruvard set of indicators of library
service provision. We also wanted to enable individual libraries to examine first-hand the data upon which
their ratings are based.

One of the foundational ideas of this system is the acknowledgment of the strengths and weaknesses of
library ratings systems of any kind. Ratings are best understood within the larger context of library
assessment and evaluation. Comprehensive local evaluation of library operations by libraries and their
constituents is the most productive method for assessing library performance.
3. What data are LJ lndex scores based on?
LJ lndex scores and sfar ratings (see FAQ item #8) are based on data reported annually by public
libraries to their state library agencies and compiled nationally by the lnstitute of Museum and Librarv
Services (IMLS). Each edition of the LJ lndex specifies the statistical year the ratings pertain to.
TheNovember 2012 ratinqs are based on IMLS public libraries data for 2010; the November 2011 ratings
are based on IMLS public libraries data for 2009; the October 2011 ratings are based on IMLS public
libraries data for 2008; the November 2009 LJ lndex ratings are based on IMLS data for 2OO7', February
2009 ratinqs are based on IMLS data for 2006.

4. What statistical measures does the LJ lndex use?
LJ lndex scores are based on four per capita service output statistics:

. library visits

o circulation

. program attendance

r public lnternet computer use

These four measures were found to be closely related statistically. Other service output statistics
available nationally-patron registration counts, reference transactions, and interlibrary lending-are not
sufficiently related to these core four measures to justify their inclusion in the same index.
5. How does a library qualify to be included in LJ lndex ratings?
To receive an LJ lndex rating a library must satisfy these criteria:

. Meet the IMLS definition of a public library

r Have a service area with at least 1000 population

o Have total operating expenditures of at least $10,000
. Report the four service output statistics listed in FAe item # 4.

6. How are the LJ lndex scores calculated?
A complete specification of the calculation algorithm used apoears here.
7. What does the LJ lndex measure?
The index measures how quantities of selected services provided by a library compare with libraries
within its peer group (groups are listed to the left). For each library, each of the four output statistics is

t0tl



measured against the average for the library's peer group (see table)'

A very high value on one or more statistics can compensate for lower values on other statistics' This

,,sensitivity,, of the index is intended to encourage both the identification of excellence in specific services

as well as thoughtful review of the validity and reliability of local data reports (See also FAQ item # 18

regarding weighting.)

8. How are LJ lndex "star Libraries" identified?

within each expenditure peer group we identify the top 30 scores. we give the top ten scores a S-star

rating, the next ten scores a 4-star rating, and the remaining ten scores a 3-star rating' However' for

the$30 mittion and aboveexpenditure group, we only identify the top 15 scores' and proceed to divide

these into three grouPs of five.

The minimum number of star-rated libraries in each edition will be 255. However, when libraries tie for

scores falling within the top scoring ranges, all tying libraries receive stars' For this reason' the total

number of star-rated libraries can exceed 255 and may differ from edition to edition'

g. Does the LJ lndex measure the quality, excellence, effectiveness, value, or appropriateness of

library services?
No, the index measures none of these. By definition, service outputs do not reflect quality, excellence,

effectiveness, or value of services to the library's community. National-level data required to measure

these aspects of library performance, even in a limited fashion, do not exist. similarly' the index does not

indicate whether library service output levels are appropriate for the library's community, nor the extent to

which services sufficiently address community needs. we encourage libraries to analyze their own

operational and community demographic data locally in order to address these two vital assessment

issues.

Ja



t.,ll.

::r,:-l

:lo
.:F
r>,

N!t
(f)-

N

lr)
@.t-
t-

lo
F-

N
cf)
o.
CA

:d
6;
ei,i
'.q{1,

'i

O)
cf)
@.

o
o,
o.

f- N
ro
$"
N

or;
$I:
fO,
l::l::ti::

o,olr:
$r,

ro
f-
s-
.lf
N

.t
N
co.
O)

or
c')

(oo
o.
O)

o)
,!D

:;i:
::,'"1 ,,

:.,i;:t:,

:.::;t
::'1.a
::j:*
::i;:;:
:.1:it;

t'!i
1.i i.::

.::,t"i:':1.la.

ro
f- I- o

O)
(o
N

\t
ro

(9:
lFi!t
l:lii.
.i
iri:iii,

ir",:.tj

t;; ;

'at;l-:>:
,O'
E,

N
o)so
-

f-
ro
O)-

ro

$
o)
$

6o
CJ

.G'
!t,l
C)i
ig
sr
;ii;li

l-
(f)

o

O)(o
c.l

f-\r t()
(o
@_ ;';

$l;
F,,:.':
i::.i

o)
!o
*
o)
co

o
N
n
(a
N

(o
f-q
f-

(f)
F-

(f)
O
N.
N

$
@

N
ro

$(o f-
N

o)$
!::Vj;
'",riii

;rii,,::,

O.
(lr:
,t,
Fi
.E'

rl;
::':O
JE
':rO
.i::lE.::J

o,(o
cq-
N

(o
cf)
co-

cf)o o
tr)

c.i

f-
(f)
@.

cott
N

(f)
cf)

00
@
CO

cr;n(\,
CD
o{
.sll
6

\f
cos
i:' 1l,;
! :::
,: :.:

.c)
,(o
.

o)(o
t(..

o(o
ro-

o)
co N

lr)

(o f-r
(o
(f)

lr) dt:
E'I
:;..t
.;::l
ttrii
F\:,:i'.

|r:::;|,;

::1lir.i

!;N

N
O)
co-

N

o
s-
r

r.-
F

(o
N
cf)-
N

".,ii,,

ro
@-

o
cf)

ro
N

(oos
to.
--;
:(0
6
!.:):t!

cf)()
N

'J)

o
@_

r

$!t f-
ro
\ !t

t-ir:::

'.;i.'.,:,.,

a

ro @ vs cf) f-

:iO,
,:l ct
!rl:C:
.i (E:

-,9t
:'i;Qi',
:-o,
.r.:!(!'

ia-.ol
r;(ri
rarO:
.:tr:
,:O.
,rF-::>

o)
o)
+

I

no
N

!

st
$l
+
c)

I

\f
n
N(\

I

N
19,
6).
1!r!.
:'lr!.:l
:i:tn
lii:.1
::,r.4),

,fi
ii,,:jraa

ri,;;i

(\t
oq
N
N

I

(o
oq
$l
(Y)

I

l+(l'
rd
N

(o

d
N

I

o)
o);
(!):
rN
;l:,4,:

iiii1r,,'i
ril:l.t

1-,it;:i

t.:::,:

lt!:,::l

@
o).
o
AIi
ii: !,
::1!.>-

.r::_5

'ir'r'i

li.lir:l

,:€:.2
,:ii::i{
'1i1:i:
iri:ii'.

a?

Y

o)
oq
o({

!

o(o
ro
T

Nq
c,
OI

I

G'
c,
00
,1,

*
ilii:
'.i::.;);i

;:,:'j:

;:!;,iii

ir'ii,

a .',.1::

oq
N
tF

@
\(o
N

I

oq
(Y)
rF

I

ro
0q
G':I

(0
e!
o)

!

N.
(o,
cri:
iJl
:.:';i1:
:!i,.ii;.
a?::i,

r:<ll
ij::/i:r:i':r.t\:,

. ::1,

i,iitl

;:.:.,
:.ta:",:::
.atl:
: :11]:l

N
o)i
e)l
.a,!,:l
,lir.,

,ti{*
-r'ri:,
::1.,.

'i:j:4
j-:,'-;:l

iii:;:a::
,itiil

:).at.:t.:

i.;.ii't1
lir,lil:
,,:Jrlli,jfi't
:ili:,!'

::;:).!r;

i-iitx
!:..{.lr
jf,*'

!5
z
o
l-]<
,U
,e
(J
G,
,o

o
tr
o
o(l'
o
(E

F
o
(E

o
o co

.()lr

C
o
.9lr

Icoz

a
oc'N
Go
(E

oq)
E
5
.o
E)

:rr1l:r;t,:f
':;i.,ll

?:?$
1!:'.,!

,tl.

F;o
F.zo
F
,'s,5
,o.'&
'.a).

'l#'.=l

,EI

.<

o
o
(,
(E
o
(!
F
tr
o
(E

()

o
o
=
o

-,

Co
.o
LL

c
o
.9lr

I
Loz

a
o
.N
(u
c,
(U

ooE

.9
E
J

ji.
{,
F:
Olt-,
-'o
Ft('J.

(J'
u,
6i
iii,#,

z'
lIJ.
>.
.-i

;tl
i,:1:;
ii:l:li,tiI

&
'3Jn

F'
@:
l-,
z:o
F.-l
,. ,
:=l:
t-l

e),il.
o

'!:::lit
l:.,,":,'

:it:
'i:'::-'

';ii.!t::::

li:'la

.,;.i:
i:'.::..,,:,-;.
,t):i-.

::. at':'

L',.,'I'i;:l

':.:':i\

,)
10:
Or

|O:
:5;

,o
L

;:(E.iEt

o
.E
'15

)
m
J

E

(,
.E
E
l
co

-coc([
o
.Y
L
(g

o_

-
o

.9.I
(5
oo

o
oo
oo
.9
eoa
-)
o

l: :.::

:t.i:

.:.1)'. i:

iili!,i)

iil{,
Flo
F.r
H
-o

=.Zo
il,
F,
L.

i:i
'::,.t;ir:

'e
zg
F,
<1t
Fo'
61
IJJ:

e:zo
G
F.{:
fE:

a
Eo
E,6
o
M
(u
oa

Io
I

-o
()
E
L
(6
o

a
-
o)

=ao
M

6
I
o
o

o
-op
U)o
M

o
o
o
co

c;
Loo
.Eq
f

a
E
(E

o
Lo.=o

o
o
3o
os
o
.c
c

,,

ti:it
);.*
li;.12

?ii1i
i,rlrf"{:
i:j,lili

irL,|+

:|!:1rr
<:
F,
Q.
F-,
z
oi
F:4
ft:
F;
a;
(9,".

urt

i,l:rirj
rli:::

i!t::

wftt!aJ.o
o
Q1!,

o,
dI
o,
*r
c,
Fio
ts

F
u,
o
o-
IIJ
ft.

Ie
Fq
6r
=8rrtzo
s
E,

t
o
=



aiir,t

# (a
@
\
N

(o
l-s

(o
$
c.)-
(o

ssr
6
N

$
C)
@-

O) (o
l-!q

@

c9

o o o
an,i-i.:::

'4.,,1
.iii!:

N
co
(").

l-
cf)
F

$
N

(os
(o-
$

(r)
N,
ct)'
(o.

::1.'r::i
ir;G
,, O.
:,,F,

'>:':'o

CA
l-
ry
-

sf- l!.
,=-
,,$.
.l,1
;vi
':,*

sso
ri

(o
$
s"
N

@
(f)-

r
Fl
@i

l!.
,(\t:
,;.::;ti:::

(o
r \r

F*r
CA
N

o o o
ii
;1:..:

.l::

N
@
c\t

(a
@N

@
co

o-
$

:.,i.

i:.io
itE;

.:: o
S.::(!

']:'-I

@
f-
to"
N

Ns lo(\l
(o
.N
".,1.':

N
CD
o-

c{
cf)
-t:
st

o
N
N

r$t
T\;
lo

$ Ns o)
CO

o o o ro
(f)

()
f-

@ o
(f)
C')

@
(9,
(v)

Ei
',j.'.".:.

Ns
(o-
N

Nro ,*
o).
(91

N,
il,:i't
l:_:rl,::

f-
@
o)

o
f-o
LO

oo
l.r)

.U)'

.+,IN

.(o,

\t Nlr) $s o o o r.-
CO
(f)

o)(o @
N \f

C')

rot
F,
(Y),

.

t.'
r'i.

il]li

':,:'i:.:;

@

I

ro
n
6?(0

t

N.
(O,
(9
IF
':-iliri::-.,!

r -,::1,,

.. 
j::t:t.

-:'rliii,
rtlli:lii:
r::.i1,..:,::.:.

1;:.r'.'1r

l\'
N
(q
GI..t:
:..

'::,i 
-

;,,,:..:;

:;:rlill;.1.:

o)
\to

I

lo
a
c.,(o

I

oq
lo
r+

t

u)t-
c,

I

oq
(o

I

ro

(\i
(o

I

6tq
C)

I

ec
(9.'
@,
F

I

o

6
{+

o

6:tt

o

6
rfr

i,i::r:rr

o
d,,
lll,
)
o.
'ff:'8,
,o
.F

:o
.Z:
g
F.ft
.*r,
,-t

,t),g
o

:l

(!
oa
Io

-c
I

-o
o)
E
(E

o

I :r.:
;!11

;:?a

,;:.{,

J

F
o,H
uri,
F,
z.
'lll,
,q
o,
UI't

ao
5

J
o()
ot-
o
o

o
-c
o

-
J
oo
0)t-o
o

E
o
(E

oo
oo
'-
:)

U'
o)Eoo
o
N
o

o

J
F
O'
Fi
a
F,l.
IIJo
o
:llJ'
ft,
rr '1..,

z,
.o'2'

a
lu.
9,
tr
IIJa
,()l
<l
IIJ.8,,
.H

'o

&
o
F:
a;:
I::t
<$
,o,.;l

1f,oio
'rc

a
E
c)

=
(E

=.9o

E
o)io
E
(t)

E
o
=
(5
.9
U'

.C
o-

ooc
(s
]J
C
q)

o
E
att-oo
o-

:.::i
o:J:J.

,.o

']ltJ',2
o,
lc
l5
lut[-

-Yooo
@
q)
.9
eoa
fo

v
@oo
a
o
.a
I
Eoo
J

va
oo
Co
(E

)o
o

oJ.
J'
(J,

IIJZ
o,
L.
llJr,Jl
IJJ.
Fl
\
l-
Oit-

o
trop
oot

o
(u
o
Jo

o

o
E'
oot
I
tr
oz

c
o
(U

Jot-
o

a
o
--a

--
U'oo
ooco
o)
ot

U'

=a

F
il.
o
o-
ult
IP'roi-Nl-

6E
=8etzo
Et
t
m
-J



o)
f-
N

@o\t
N

o
@o

ro
N
$!+

c,t,
u)
.9.Ii
''i,i'':il
.,.,:it:!:

,S.Sj,i+

lr)

o
ltr)oo
co

so
N

T\
(os

o)lo (o

$
(o

@ro
o)

@
f-
]tr)

(o

o
cf)

(o;
(o,
Fr.:(o
',:::

o)
CO

\t(otr
C)
N O)

O)
@
N

,til
'ls'
.6t
xf

s
O)

!t

.:o
,E
th

sr::i.

€
(o

(f)

NN
co(o roa

lo
N
N,
F,.
::::::].:

f-.t
N

lr)
N @

N
@(o
l-

€(o
-E
t:::,,..

(o
N

@

,,i'o
:=
{,

:l.l:.

o,
f-
(f)

cf)

N
\r\f rf)

€
l-.
r0
to
!i7

@ o,(o
(o
(f)

o(or\
.C9
sl
-jF

i,,

o)
N

N
o?
F
Y

@
F

ci(0
I

6t
(D
+
co

T

oq
$t(9

I

O:lo
;;!
.=fr
,*,
i.:
#:i::

;;.:,

C\
o)
(9

I

(Y)(\
o

I

@
t:

$
I

sl
t\(9

I

,(O
.(ro:
:,F
lo,
.. I .

:i::::j:
:,:1:,,1:

,:' 1.:::t, :.

@
oq
o
$I

F
a?

-6t

, ni,:l
1: .::

Ito
o

=oq

o
tr
o
oo
o
oo
ot-
(I)

otr

.Y
U'
o)o
oo
ot-o
o
E.

vaoo
aoo
Eo
U)
s
J
o

v
@oo
Z"
o
a
E
Eoo

.Vaor]
c
.o
(U

Jo
.t-o

lo
IZ
lO,
IFla
IU,3
;g-
,UJ.
,c)i
z:
,III:
E,
IU
'l!'tl
U.J ]

trl
JI
<tFIolFI

-ii
o
o

=o

o
o
oo
o
o
(!
E
ora-

.Yooo
o)oco
o)
o
E,

Jooo
ooo
Eoa
s
J
o

.Yaoo
e
ov

,ID
.L
Eoo

v
U'
o)o
o
(o
Jo
o

.o,2
,9
l-a
:[lJ
_3
'g.l
ZI
r9,
p.:

=.t
O.!r!

=,)JI
<lFI
olt-l

:1.
(
o
A:x'&,
(.
il
Cl:
J,
E.
UIFz

U)o
L
(E

s
J

c)-
o
o
J
J

o
mo

oo
L
G

s
J
L
(l)

o
E
P

J

o
mo

LO

oN
--
cf)

c)
-oo
oo

Ft,
o
o.
IJJ
E,

J
IFz
o
=g)
z
st
tra
J



o
O)

o o
o)

f-r o N
!F

O o o-

l- o t\
rF

.

@
I

o

o:tt

anF
o
),
oo
tr.o

x
o

.tso

c
ooF

oEo

_o
Co
L

E
-g
O

LUoz
oz
trlF

(!)
z
UJ
N,o
J

o
J
FoF

lUoz
oz
TU

F
z
ul
tuF
J
t-oF

llloz
O,
z'
ul
[-:F
j
FoF

Ft
o
0.
UIt
Ie
TO
i-Nl-

6T
=ggrt
zo
t
u.
m
J

oF>
.aD
o.J

00
(f)
rs

N
$_
@

|.r)
o)
tr)-

-

N
rr)
o-

(o F.,r
:..,,:

O(o
N

o
rO
N

o
lO

o)
6
N

o,
o)
N
1rl. .

(f) I\(9 rtr) o)t\(9

o

.!2

L'

r-t-$
N

(o\t
6-
(f)

o
N
oL

l-
cq
@

o, @ tt
F

:l

N
O)

rO$
N

f-
cf)
$

N
@
N

g)

r\
;a..: :a

CO r\
N
:|,

.,,]

O (\t
\i
N

,:::ti
::,,,,

CO to
(Y,

::l:'.1.i,:;:

!::::t:

o'

=o
(u
J

@
C\l
co

(o
N
c'l
(f)

O)
@
cf)

ro
N

N z
q

$ r !$ @
o)

O @o o)
o)
CDr
:;::-,

0 cf) o),(Il co,N
:,

o

=o
E

(o
(f)

@

O)
ro
N^
(f)

(f)
(f)
cf)

o)
O)
r

N
=
q

lf) $ o) $
o)

N(o
(o
ro
N

o)
$

roo\t
- € (f) (f

G' -t

,,o1
'; ED

r:'lE

r(J:
o

.E)
(U',

oo
o,L
o

$
-o\f

I

o
oq
$
N

I

u?
60
$t

t

tfq
o
$t

I

.nl

N
oq

€
c)
e
co(r,

oo
-o
:,,.''.

to
(0
N

I

oq
$t

I

(Y)

+
I

Ns
$t

I

q
o
.:rt l

oq
o

N(,
lo
fi)

(Y)

c(9
({)

I

lo:
iF:
(0
(?

oq
oo
AT

ts

Fo

ot
tuo
Iz
otFo
u.l
J
lrJ

oo
f
o

a
E
oo
a
g
tt

t

o
=lt
o-

-
IE

oF
o#
,g

o
(!
o
U'
.9
oL
o
-9u

oo3
iI

=(J=.ct

o-

':::.

o
o
Er

rG
o
<
,rO
,il]!
:G
fLi
ll
.;6,

=I
E,

il,o
.,o'o
J

Go
o
(L

o

=.9

oo
(E
o-

o
L
o
.o
E

z

.g
o
5
o
o.
Eo
=o5
oo
c,
(g
o-

0
L
q,

.ct
E

z

#
o

o

o

l:t'l

r- 1.

U|

=,(rt
ooE
,+
o,
u.l,()
>.t
UJa!
F.f
o
>.

a
E
(s

o)o
L
(L
0)

E
a
o
U)

o
E(!
o
o
o-

Eo
q)
oa
o
L

E
(5
o
x.
o
E
E
Ja

.l::_:.

::.;.:-

oi

=t
'Oo
E.
'[r-:
J
F.
o

o
E
(5

o
o-

o
(J

(u
E'
o

C
0)

E
.Co

Io
E

r
o
U)

H
oL

=-cO
l
(6'6
o
o.
V)
(,
-o
(E
ot
q)

E
E
Ja

'i'ioz
oz
IU

9"z
TUeo
J
o

o

l!oz
oz
UIF
F.

fo
J
Fo

ulo
,z:
<.o
z,
IJJt-F

=t
O,ot
,GL-.

@
>.
,.1 :
.J

F
'ot-

oo
J
o
tr
ul

(\t

a

o)
t
olr
o
=
E()
ot
o.

IJJoz
oz
IIJt-F
<:j
Foli

dn

=t
ooft
IL

3o

,:.::

UIo
Z{,
o:
z,
ul:
F:
t-:(
5,
F',o

o
=
il.
o
o
&
o-
z
ul
IU

IIJ.
o"z{.ol
Z.
IIJ
la:l-'
'3;
.{,l-ol+

-



''o
i'lrJl

,,E
iF-
.i:6
l-'>

o)
lr)

t\lt
Tr)

o)
N

ro
f-
(f)

@
o)

@o (o.
F-(9
r;

i;ii:

o)
tr)

(o
@
l.f)

o,N
1r)

cf)

@
o)

@o lr),
,F
F.
,ll i':l
'.1t:l
,lilr..

ao
.. Lt
;,ult,,t,

',o
,:(J'

.

.',a
:. lll
l:,J
,:''t'.1ts

@.t (f)o
N

s O)o N
cf)

o
$

(Q:
(f,)'
rr)

1 -,t

@o
.E
(o
N
O)_

rr)(o

-o
!

o
-o

;
E
-C

(o
$l
or"
l()(0

.i:::,tt

,rio,:rl!
'd
f,

')o
:O
:t<
o
i=
LlJ
F

cot cat t o)o N
(f)

o
$

(o

.$

.."..::i;

:.::..

6
O)
o
ro

o)(o
$-
oN

o,
u)r{'

l-r

oF
N

.C
C
o
E
,9
.C
P

o

o
F
O)

!

l-
o
E

,@
.C#
o

:::i:l;:;

':l:': ':":;!;i;,,
!lu
:(J|z
,<z
:lU

,z
,E'
.=,
.uJ
'.,o
1<
ri!0

F(,
:cl,

a
:llj
(),
;>
E
UI
'O,

li

9,z
(,
.IJJ
,F-

o
IU
ooJ
F
o
o
Y
o
o
dl

UIF(r
ol
o,F
oo
Z,
ag
o

(,
E
J
m
-
(E
t-o
J
.c
(U

-

=(u
-o
=-co
t-
(E

m
-Vl-
(E

0-

oJ
IU

o
=EI
F.
J(,
Fol-

oJ
TU

o
utJ
F.
F.
J
l-oF

lJl
(Jz
zuF
z,

E
tuo
o
<.F
o

.o
o
(U

o
.o
-o
ifr
o
o
E
(o

aco
oo
t-
oo

aoo
(o
-oo
(U

o
E
o)

=
06

E
o)Eo
c
o
(.)

6
oo
o.ao
ot
ao
=

c,
'o
o
(U

(U()
(D

o
(E
E(!
ot
(t)
c
oo

o

:o
o)
U)
(s
oJ

0)oco
l-
o
o
v.

aoo.E
o
(/)

)
o

=Jio
.9ro
J

ooE
1J
l(,
l--
ol-

Ft
o
o-
UIt
l-
IEo
FNz;o:
=o--oa9
26
u
v,o
J



oo
l--
$

oo
o

oq
N
@

oo
o
c\I

oq
ot-

oo
c\i

Oo
::
C-.1:

6I

ror
cf)
CA!t

o o lo
N ,:o oot-

o
o)
N

Glr
C')st(\l

o,

.9,

'"i

oq
(a
N

oq
o

oq
o
f-

oq
o

oq
tI)
ro

oq
N

oo
ct(o
st

os
@

to$
N
N

:(l)
.Gi)

,l!'
:(O

,]
Nt-t-r

(o
(f,

e?-
c),
6l:,
:r ,.::,:

,.. ..:I
: : ,,:,,

,:,to:,E
-:..4,:(!.
:'J

oo
ej(e

oq
o

o(f
(o

oq
$

oq
o,

oq
o

oo
I\.-
N

o cf)
N l-

rtr)

s
o)(o

rf- Sf.
E.
::..: ,

'..
' 

:.1.

(o
(,)
(f)

@
\t,
tr.
-sl

t:E;o
,:t:,A

l-

oo
oi(a

oq
o

oc(o
oq
N

c)c
@

oq
o

o-.o
lf)(o

* *

O)
cf)
lr)

o)
eolo

sr 60
$t

(f)
(f)
$

o (D:
ool
$
';l:;,.

11;,1:'

:+l
.ro
,rjl]l
;'::c,iG:

i9l
]:!,
t'.O,(!

::o
:,,o.
i.'o[.
o
>

o
\
-(o

6
o
:th

(9
(0
+

I

oq
o
1l)

I

c,\t
$I

I

oq
o

.lo
r(o-
N
rF
''' i:i.
.::1.

.,...t,,

''a

'1,'','

,,-..,

oq
oo

I

oq
oo

I 6
6
+t

o0
.+
,.f
I'llt ::

:jr::

t;i i.
.:..

::.., . ,

o
)
oItt

r(,
\
(Y)

o(9
+
rJ,

I

(.o
!+

!

'.;'ji:ti:

@E
o
E"
ut
UIFz
f,
J:
O,

o
(U

Jot-
(]

-go
(6
o
)
o

eo
,9
:E
Eoo

oo
o)
o)
o
E

@o
.9-
o
U)
(6
.occooF

a
o)o
L
c)a
-+,
J
o

)r.ii

,:7

,::.!.1:

oJ
Fol-

Et

to
E,
uJ

o

a
C
.9
(o
L

.9oot
o
(E

0-

a
J
olzoo

!o

o
lUou3oa
tU
E-
J
F,
Eo
&
tu

Fo

a#)
o
lloo
-L-
O

a
f
orzoo

.E,o

.9
Co
L

oo
0)

(E

oF

,..l
ul:o
3'l!'
:2,

t,o

rx
,J
lL,
UIo'.2
,LU
;6o

ti;.:

,a
z
o&F
o-
.!(
:(J
IJJ

C)
,lLiJ
ulo

a
(5

-o

.c
(s

o
o)
C)'=
oa

-C
Jo

J.
F
o.
F.

r()

oN
-cf,
t-
o
-oo
()
o

-c#c
o
E
.2
P
o

=s
'(!

t!
I
o
q
th
L
(u

E
=

.ta

TI

F
&o
o-
lUt
J
IFz
o
=9z
s
E
E
m
J



q)
o!
(l,
o

N
cd
@
rf)

sf l-$
tr) N (f)o
cri d doi
r o e@+g)ro

F-S
c? oq
@o)
-(Orll)

o olo !f sO OIc) lJ) n
ci dlci d d
6 rolro sl $ri -l- Y s

I

I

::o):::

Es E:E EEE E* Ef EA FEE
g =o I E I =o.'=o I =q I &. I E 2 &3g E g I s eH g A g e g ,g s PP
; o ; o ; oo ; ; e e ; e e eeo r.- o 6 EE a t E O 6 o o (o(a
e o o N o oo I b 6 

= 
o o o oo

o o o o e oo o 5 o A o N o oo
(o (o F (o(o 6 + @ + (o F (O(O

N
F
I,JzJ
o
oU
F

:o
F
z
o
tr

=tolrz

:
ul
ultFo
J

3
UTIF

oF
oooo
I

x,

o

lo ro

ooNN
oo
oo

E
oq
J
f
=o

t-o
o.
ltIo
uIC)r
]L
II
o

t{, ()rl
o oo
N NN

o oo
o oo

(f)

ct
€o
(f)

(f)

ci
@
cf)

(orr(o\tr
oo(oco@
6(f)

(?)

c;
@(,

O a,) N-q a \\
o) N@(OF)N
(f)

(o
a
(f)

C!r\\
N@N,

rooou?qg
t- c) o,F-.O(oF' (t

oo
o;(o
(r)

lutl()
EI U? U?

rl E F-6l t F-
EI<l
(si
trI
trrl'Elol

I

c!
@
@
|r)

sro
cd$
Y

rtq
@.it
Y

oq
o,(o
(.)

lf)q
N
r--

tr)q
F,.
F.c

o
E

p
t!
(L

oo(,

EI
=l

i
(E

lt

- Gro(E*r-'r o9ooTE;E
# 8€tr.co
.Eo
(u Ft

o.o
t
d)

o
E
(I,
z

E
fz

h o r.l Lr)|r,
o o o oo.N N (\ NN
o o o oo
6 0 0 00

(D + i- e.i 6ito lo o) o,(\t N O(f('! a, N t-

i.xo(,oroEE()o
g

E-]EJdflEF
= : A : == n
o dl F (D (D0 F

x
tJo
o

rE

F
Fgl

61r)
ooNC{
oo
oo

:

st nirr)$
c.,l OC" F-

.Y(,
C,

o
E
o-

ifr i!

::
(YI NNro $\t(\ o) o)(t l.- t-

.t
(J
o

!o

FF
U := Ul- o tod) F

u) ro ro ro
oooo
NN6IN
rfoooo
oooo

(,
NNNN(r)roNloo

6lNOsr$(,

5lloooo
o(J
FJE

=a=ocoFoc0

.l
6iol

I

()@u) (,(\to
oo

o
o.
F J

F
d]F

=9
@
N
o



(\a

o
o)
(o
o-

oo
oi(o
(f)

oo
o;(o
(.)

oooo
a; o;(o(o
(t (f)

oo
oi(oo

!!i:i :i ::::i:::::o)

HEEEEE HF FE FE FE ,PEE F:EtI iOQe.s I a E L tL U r! S * EE ; Fo i99qq s * e g e F e 2 e .4.4 ;
= =LrLrLlL = * 

= = = L 
= rjg 

=pHHU 
g E g ,B g A g g g ,n,r g #

; .oooo ; ; ; ; 
" 

a e p ; eQ e o
o oNNNN o t'l o o) 6 6 O o o oo o
o NNNcIN 5 b 5 o 5 ri o N o !:!: o o
r (o@(o(o(o @ r (g 

= 
io F (o + (o(o (o

oq
N
N
N

oq
NN
N

N NIN O N@ol clc q qul
o olo) N @$o olc) N o)N
9 ,ol,f) T

I

I

I

to
ol
.+

tr)
ol
t

lI, roo.| q
t$

lr)q
$

oo
C;o

.9
!,

x
t!
E
!,
IE
J
tr

I,L
I
(r,
o
ul
&.

xo
E,
ulx

F
al,
UII
J
Y

t
oJ
F
06

d
uJ
Y
r0

:
oo(f)(o@rllo
NOClN(Y)OO

x-l
oaJoo
oo
99E!E1

:n=n
ro(DFdl(DF

oq
oo

s o oto o oco c c;c q c(o 6 lr)l|r) o o
5 N NIN o oq, -l- 5

I

I

I

I

I

o
E

(E

'6,

o

o
E

E
'6
o-

ooo

Jl<(., ooo)
oo
*gFJtrdsd

=:==: udl cDcomco(D F to

0,o
F

t l'-(r)(f)F-$
o NO(f)O-
d -oiddiNg) NrO$(f)(.)

F- (.) (O F- r+
NOoOF
- oi <ci c"i r.-
NrO\t(O(f)

c!@ood+o)N

No
o;or,

Nq
o)o
lr)

oo
C;o

\t
@
(o

II rr' rr)rr,lr)lr)lr) lo r{) lo tr) l') t''
-. 1 rqll o ooooo o o o o o o

;I N NNNNN N N S{ C! C{ N
(]l (o (o(o(o(o(o (o (o (o (o (o (o

I o ooooo o o o o o o
i o ooooo o o o o c) o
l-

oloclcrnlLo
NINoto

I

I

I

i
ciF
z
o
P

E
do
ILz

:o
UJF
(,
z
uJo
J
oo

E
o)

E
s!

- 
(Uro

(E {-, -
5EF
I- .- dt

=--o# gt
ctogo
(E

I

trl 6 lo lr)(, 1(, lo
Fo o o oo o o
N N N NC{ N C!
@ o @ (r)(o ao @o o o oo o o< < < <<6 0 0 00 a o
F

:::ffi
6r t"i Fr rid $ i't(o @ .o @ a
o e oo r,

I'.Yl<
ooo0roo
E-C.Cooo-t
9-9E_.tEJE-l

r-l:
= : A = := n = ^TD CD F (I coco F O co F-

o)Nur$
N6o(o

q)

E(!z

I

El 6 r;.'i.;"i
1l rl oooooI (' t|r)6rO()

J
F

(Il F-

h

(O-
N
(l)



G)
G)(')
(E
(L

tr)
c?
o
lr)
ro
o

F- lf, ro
6Fr(,

€@
6t()|r)(o ro- to-

oo

io
(f)

c;(,
tr)
o

N (f)(o@o
o E9 qqo{q
^i 

NN@(f)!d ,r) (o(ot-sf
(r, I NrF

o - O)F.Otr)6 o o)coor
I S g$SF
(o?

ooN(30
i-ooooo GO €o

Orcqq
ONNoroo

I o OO:l o oo
= 

I cj d.rj
6l or o)o)

<l
(!l
.El
orl

ol
I

lf)
(f)

d
lr)
|r)-
o

t-q
ro
(o

I

co(o@oqqc!q
F-C{cO(f)(o(oF-st
'q55

O)F-OrOoloqqr
O)NNF-(o*O1..

c
c!(o
(4

I

oq
ooo

oo
cio
6

O FIFq qlc!
o NIF-
o) o10

-lr,'1,
I

I

I

I

I

:

E,
.EEea
ES36
;;() l'-oo9E

:i:g'} FF
,9 bbTEe 66
0rr

= 
aa

; o;o ooo co@o l'- l'-(o (o

oocqro ro
o, o,

o
E

t,'6
0-

c
ooo

gEEg=EfiiE=E=E8
EE EESfrE EEEEE E;

i.oJ
F
od

t
IJJ
Y
dl

vo
J

F
od

tt!
Y
tn

u)ir,loro
ooooNN(\N
dioo@oooo
6000

:

o
o
J
E,
o

=U'z
t
F

=oq
J
fo

rolr)
oo(\N
!o cooo
oo

:
F

c0

u
d.
ul
Fzo
=

o(r)tr(\o

.Yo
6.,

(J

F)

= =bocoF

(n (.) (o (o
@sl o oor,, () lr)to

Io
q,

o
JFJ

X = :: E
E iE i5 iDiS E

::
rD!.F-rOO
@6@@c.t$aoc{oo CO .., Crl F) .t

-Y .Y -v
oooOoo
.E .E .cooofr
g9€F-.rE-rE

-= =5 = =o = =trlmFa0coFOco

o

{,
E
t!z

ro totr)
o ooN NC{
@ @@o oo
o oo

(f) {U' F- F.(0 00N rr)rr)

.Yo
c,

o
Cr
(Lg

t-
== uo mcr F

0)
EL

F

t(t
-o

- 
(Ero

(E *.r -
bEF
E.rQ
g E€trsogo
Lt-
(I,

=o()

lo lr) (oro u, rf)

6 0 00 0 0
- N NN N NH ;.; iib a a

f

F

,l
(I,l

"l

=l3lzl

=9
(o
N
O)F



t
q,
o)
(t,
(L

\
ro
N

N
d
c.,t

o6F-|--
1(' ro

\iNN

ro
N NO
+ d<o
rf $O)
N

E 3 S3813 3 818 E EqE
$ s frNsl$ E EiE 5 8HpN i+ NN lrir'ii''lrrl

r o olo F
=l E 6i- C olio?
ir d o)to)/.1 6 6lto sr ollq,Ei f -i- e ",i'<l I I

-!lrEl icl I

t,,l ll
ol I I

I OIO rtr
I olo o)io)

:l o, ld ili:l qlq qlq
El I I<t I Iul I I

6l I Irr r 
Illl

o@ t-
rO

SN
-rO(f)c?qq
(o o, rr)No(otr,C.)-

oloolo
dldro I ,f)

't'
I

i

I

(o
ro
+
o)$

@60qqc
(o$cO
NN!f
NN'

c{
+{
N

-Oc!q
@(otO)

:o)iiiii,: -i:!::: ::
s 

=' 
si' g P * I +i E' 'i P EER s' EIE It IEe Iq=r $e I1'=;,+f,g E g d g EE s ,iEa' * e + sss + +

i ; e p ; ae e 8sR I 8 E 3E? E EE r E E B RE E EX8 E E E nlX 3 x
F3=EP63Pioidr;6;@6@;."

E
oJ

OF
=06Et6E
ILtrI

to lr) u) tr)ro-b o o oo
S S S SH
5 E 5 55
r

:
dt
oot
lJ-
o
J
J
uJ

=

:

si
oot

@J
J
UJ

=

:
oF
z
o
tr

=t ,\o=lL ,r

=5
|r,rololo-oooo
NNCTN
(.)o(r(f)

6000
-F

o

(E

-o

- 
(Ero

Gl*r-

b5T E
ErrE =

= 6EtrsOgo
Lot-E(!k'rz

F
U'

o
=oo

loro
ooNN
rotr)
oo

:

Nt!
NY
NO
F)

I
o
o,

o
rFJ
FF

=nts iE AF

:loo(l,tsFNOC{ofit

f<xoooo
-E .coo-r +

JE-lE
: ^Foc0F@

urrorotr)
o(foo
NN(\IN
o(rc)o
60oo

Ra sa
NoNOOr,

ji<
oo6' o)

qq
9

F)Fdso-
==b==tDtoFrDm

,l
ol
"1

oorf$

F-lf)
No)(f) (\l (o

t- (9 t\
NOGIN
f.t c., I

E

z.

rloooq,EEoo
-E-.rE-l

=:l.r=-iaiE iEF iT iEF

-1
>l*l

I
g](D

=ro
@F
N
CD

I-



U)
0)t)
(g
o-

oq
(o
N

OrOO oolrr;-
\l(.)(f)

NC{

o olo o) o)
o olo
c; dlc; d db nllr) t Ss ."l'

I

I

olo o)
olo
dlci dlr)ltr) $6lo

I

I

I

oq
o
N

o
u?
N
ro
N

o
-(o
N

o)

ri
$

oq
N
l.r)
N

F-oooroo
^i 

ni 
^i(o lf, |r)

(ONN

oq
No
N

F-q
N
(.)
(o_

(f t! -OlrfrNo o roco(oo
O N F_o()r)
O (t OOt-r
N .g_ -- (O-

FO)lr)Nqoqqq
F-@clrOOCle-

oq
oo
N

oq
oo
o.l

t'-
N
cci
$

N NlF* O Oi-. \l\ q c6 @l@ O O\t $l$ o o
'i -l- $ N

I

I

t
o
J

F
od

t
uJ
Y
dl

Fo
o.
IIJo
ut
(J
tLl!o

i
U'
UJ

o
d.o
I
TL

o-

IL

F.\
@
$

=o
E

(s

'E

o

o
E

.E

c

ooo

E
o,

: : i : ::c: : : ; i i ' j :

; c;r i; ; jF.E.E rt, .E P, d 6 : gr o

!s_ !2 s222i 2 3 * 3 +1 * Eg E g 3 g 
===E 

g p * p * s s ;
; o ; o, ; oooo ; 9 s (3 ; P P a
o N o @ o lr)ococ-{ 6 N O i 6 o o 'r)o o o o rrr(o 5 i'j O a o o
o o o o o NN6IN 6 N o N o N o o

@ @ (o(o(o(o 
= ci F ((' 

' 
(o r (o

t
Fz
lrJ
U'

U'
Yoo
dt
o
UIo
E,oo
lll
d

(L)o
tr(,
olr
=

z
o
@J

=i
I

o
E
(!
2

6
sl

- (Ero
(E {-r e'E o9ooTE,,E
# 8t
trEO
.Eo
G

rorolo(r)ul|r)urro
ooooeoooNN6INNNC{$55tstsE-EE
-No{NGTNNN5bts-Eba-
-f

F-
@:::
6No(qN\io)

6 (.) @ o 6 N G'
-c)o{o6{rr)NA(f,(.)o(rF-a.,N

t-Y.l-YooooOoroo-tr.c.c-troooo
.i

I
rFrtrJFtF-:
F--o==o=-=O==O=-=OFcomF@coFOcoFtrtcOF

lor.)ur|r)lr)
ooooo
NNNNN
rf,roooo

NNN
ooooo

oooF-O)oc{roNoor)c{rr$tf)

-Y .roooo
oo

JtrJF

^ = ^ =F-co(DFdlmm

u) |f)

ooslN
roto
oo

:

6r-F-(oc{ o)tr, F-

,rauo
o
E
o-

in i5

EIrlzl

oo
F

s(,
=5@
N
a

-



@
o
ED
(E
(L

oo
CJo
N

oo
Cio
N

oo
c;o
N

rooo@oo
-cici oo
6NN

lr)
oq

ro-

$ r, F.-F-CO(.,6 Or.)F-(-o
(o Olr)Nc\t
$ - O)e{-@h N O-

J --:

NF-6(.)oqq\q
Otr)NNo.rc.lr@
N rO-

s
(o
Y

rattr)|r)|{)ro
rFooooo
NNNNN
NI\F-F-N
NNNNN
ooooo-

l-
orl =Et s

]Nl\ o
lr

+ r N o roF 6< cOOO (O(ON N F-@ O)(O (O
t.d F-;olooco$orrF-rorr'.oNorloo)6o
F. F O (r) O S co N l'- N F (O \i l'- {) t !O N co Q'$io NF6i-<Nd;c.)N N(ooD@c{rFNio
€N

r r- ro - o F'o !t @ o o (o @ N N L- A O A (p
\ - ol q c oq a c u.) \ q 

'Q 
q c\l c? u?q o? q q

r O (o O rt 6N F. N r (O S N {, $ (o N (f) 9q :lN._ N(f) t N + r cON I N(O O)(ONr Fc!0-i | 'i -i i -i Cil '

O LOOooOOiOOoLOb6'r)lr)rO(()QO{)O
o o o N N c! fro N c) o o o o o o o ro N o 1..-

O NNNNNNC!NNNNc\INNNNNNNO

o
E

E
'6,
L

o

c
o
E

E,6
&

E
0)

o
E
(oz

1r)
coN(t

Lo
o,

(J

E
o.

iE

E

z

q)
o.
F

't
d!q

.i-q
f.-
(f)

@

.-CC :; _ J, tEe€ En ;
E E T lEgE f Ee fr vZZ88 e&gP g==ee ge
; o ; oooo ; Io (o o tr)(f)oo ql ao o o --s$ I SO - O NNNN O !S

:

<o
ooz
od
F
U'
o
=

d.o
J

F
od

u
UJ
Y
o

zo
N

=

; -5js.E:s-: :;:::::ii ig EE66EHE6EEEEEEEEESE.! 2244E t 2 E 122212i22i2'*g ESgg e9*eggSgSggg gegd*
f
ooot,

IE

lt

- Gro(E .Fr 
-'E o9ooT

E.rQ

= 6fic,co
3o
L

(!
I

F
od
F

rt! lr)
ooctN
i- F-NN
oo

@d@iolor,

.Yo
o
o

FF
r.- d) co l.-

tr)!o |f) ro lf) (o !r, Lr) r) r) lr, r{) lr) (o lr) ro |{) tr) ro
oooooooc>ooooooooo oo
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNCVNN NN
ooooooooooooooooo oo
NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN NNab666Ets-6-EE---.- 6.

s ci ri ri c.i d F ri N N d d @ ri ri - ci r- q.i
N tf (O(O(o VN (oN Nl'- $ iit N F- N rO NNN r - r r @C! F N N C) S $ O O OO) N OoNOOO-NONNNOONNNN NO

F-;-@rj@oNNOOClOtr, { .{' (,

.:l xoooo,
oo
€FJtrJ

LF
=:n:nd)cocnFmcoF

Elo
(o
N
o

r

co co co m ro mm ao ao m m ao co to ao co m m co



tr
o,o
G
o-

F-o
+o
$

t-o
.f
o
Y

N i- roNq q qq
n t F-(O(\oo)

To

tr)Nqq
F. (O
o),o

t-o
rf;
N

co F- F-u2 ol o?
f-rl)lr)(o(\Gl -

F-q
()
N

coq
f.-(.)

odr@qqu?
<>FFlr) f., (r)

@ul
t-(o

oq
o
ro

600qqq
o)oo.if u) lf)

oo
o
ro

lf,
co:
s

ro |r,qoq
o) o,$rt

r()
oq
O)
Y

o
E

E
'6

o

:
o
tr

p
G
IL

Eo
=

o
E
Gz

(,
oo

i: i:;:: :
E':;ED;ED..O)!.O'!.=L.=LULTLf E ,[ E I E ,t g ,E E3e&o&eEe.ae=q:s6 :^ 6 j 5 I E = 6 +S
= 

y 
= Y = P B fi 3 ,i6

; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; ; o(>
O O O O o (r) O o O l'-F'o $ o .t o o o N o OQcr (o o (o o c) o o ooF (o F 6 i (o r (o (o(o

ooo

EI
ftzl

0)

F

l-
o
o-
UIo
ulo
lL
II
o

F
d.

oot
d)

:

6
tF
J
Fz
ul
e.o

il(!
st

(U ro(E*r-

5EF
E=X
= E€ctogo
.E

G
I

o
F
f
oo
oo
I

t
U'

rr0
oo
NN
NF.
NN
oo

(, tr) u, o ra) r)()
-ro o o o o oo
N N N N O{ NN
o, o, o o) o oo,
N N 6I N N NN
o o o o o oo

:CDq c{ + r, +io) \ o $ o) oo(!{ o oa (\t oo(r) r, $ r, E@

Jli(roooqro,
ooo {
E-.rE--.!FJ

--:n=6.- v .- v == u
lo (D F IE co F o d]co F

ooct (o(\o
ato

Jo
q,

o
Er

t-
@(DF

F
06
F

(ro
oo
NN
i-N
NN
oo

:
6' CO
00(')(\ r.-
F) (O

Jo
0,
-co

F
cocoF

Eo
(l,
N
o

--


